THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

ν.

MARCO R. MEDINA,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PACIFIC COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

B. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR.

The court's authority to impose additional punishment for a sentencing enhancement must be expressly authorized by statute. The statute governing enhancements does not direct the court to order that multiple enhancements for drug-related offenses must be served consecutively to each other, but the same statute explicitly directs that several other enhancements must be served consecutively to each other when multiple enhancements are found. Do established principles of statutory construction demonstrate that the court lacked authority to impose consecutive sentences for multiple enhancements under RCW 9.94A.533(6)?

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>.

Marco Medina pled guilty to selling drugs on three occasions to an informant who was working for the police. CP 2-4, 14-15, 22. Each police-arranged drug sale occurred at the same location, which was within 1000 feet of a designated school bus stop route. CP 2-4, 22. He

also pled guilty to one count of possession of a controlled substance. CP 22.

Mr. Medina was sentenced with an offender score of "3." CP 26. The standard range was 20 to 60 months on the underlying offense. Id. The plea did not involve an agreed sentencing recommendation. 5/11/12RP 3. Mr. Medina asked for a prison-based DOSA sentence, while the prosecution asked the court to impose a 120-month prison sentence, without the DOSA. 5/18/12RP 2. Both attorneys asserted the sentencing statute provided that the three 24-month enhancements for committing the offense within 1000 feet of a school bus stop route must be imposed consecutively to each other, and consecutively to the sentence imposed for the underlying offenses. Id. at 24. The court ordered Mr. Medina to serve 30 months for the three drug sales, as well as three school bus stop route enhancements served consecutively to each other and consecutively to the underlying offenses, for a total term of 102 months. CP 27. The court did not order the DOSA Mr. Medina requested. Id.

Mr. Medina filed a CrR 7.8 motion, arguing that the court imposed a sentence that was not authorized by statute. CP 37-45. The State argued that the motion was "just untimely" and the enhancements

are served consecutively by statute. 12/20/13RP 2; CP 66-67. The court granted the State's motion to dismiss the CrR 7.8 motion because the prosecution's argument was "persuasive" without further explanation. *Id.* at 2. Mr. Medina was not transported and therefore he did not appear, and was not represented by counsel at the hearing on his CrR 7.8 motion. CP 37; 12/20/13RP 2.

D. ARGUMENT.

The court erroneously imposed multiple consecutive enhancements for being near a school bus stop contrary to the governing statute

1. The court's sentencing authority is dictated by the governing statute which must be strictly and narrowly construed.

The court's sentencing authority is controlled by statute. *State v. Pillatos*, 159 Wn.2d 459, 469, 150 P.3d 1130 (2007). The constitutional separation of powers doctrine precludes the judiciary from imposing a sentence that is not expressly authorized by statute, because "the trial court's discretion in sentencing is that which is given by the Legislature." *State v. Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d 175, 180-81, 713 P.2d 719 (1986).

Even when this Court believes the Legislature has inadvertently omitted a sentencing provision, courts "do not have the power to read into a

statute that which we may believe the legislature has omitted, be it an intentional or an inadvertent omission." *State v. Martin*, 94 Wn.2d 1, 8, 614 P.2d 164 (1980). The "Legislature has the power to fix the term of imprisonment," and the court's role is merely "to carry out the legislative mandate." *Id.* at 629; *see In re Pers. Restraint of Acron*, 122 Wn.App. 886, 891, 95 P.3d 1272 (2004) (refusing to speculate about seriousness level for unranked offense because "[a]ppellate courts do not supply omitted language even when the legislature's omission is clearly inadvertent").

As a basic rule of statutory construction, courts must rely upon the plain language of the statute. *State v. Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d 723, 729, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). Penal statutes are given "a strict and literal interpretation." *Id.* at 727. The court "cannot add words or clauses to an unambiguous statute when the legislature has chosen not to include that language." *Id.*

Mr. Medina was convicted of three drug sales, each including the additional element that the transaction occurred within 1000 feet of a designated school bus stop route. CP 22, 26. Additional punishment for selling drugs near a school bus stop route is authorized in RCW 9.94A.533(6). The court ordered each school bus stop route enhancement be served consecutively to each other, but the governing

statute does not expressly direct the court to impose bus stop enhancements consecutively to other bus stop enhancements.

2. Unlike other provisions of the same sentencing statute, multiple school bus enhancements are not consecutive to other school bus enhancements.

RCW 9.94A.533 authorizes a trial court to impose additional punishment for sentencing enhancements based on the terms specified in the statute. For example, RCW 9.94A.533(3) governs firearm enhancements. Subsection (3)(e) mandates the multiple firearm enhancements "shall run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions, *including other firearm or deadly weapon enhancements*, for all offenses sentenced under this chapter." RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e) (emphasis added).

Similarly, RCW 9.94A.533(4) governs deadly weapon enhancements and it likewise requires that "all deadly weapon enhancements . . . shall run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions, *including other firearm or deadly weapon enhancements*, for all offenses sentenced under this chapter." RCW 9.94A.533(4)(e) (emphasis added). The sexual motivation enhancement contains identical statutory language, providing that "all sexual motivation enhancements . . . shall run consecutively to all other sentencing

provisions, *including other sexual motivation enhancements*." RCW 9.94A.533(8)(b) (emphasis added).

Unlike these enhancements, RCW 9.94A.533(6) directs the imposition of a school bus stop route enhancement as follows:

An additional twenty-four months shall be added to the standard sentence range for any ranked offense involving a violation of chapter 69.50 RCW if the offense was also a violation of RCW 69.50.435 or 9.94A.827.^[1] All enhancements under this subsection shall run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions, for all offenses sentenced under this chapter.

RCW 9.94A.533(6).

When construing a penal statute, the court "cannot add words or clauses" that do not appear in the statute. *Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d at 727. In *Delgado*, the defendant was sentenced under the "two strike" provisions of former RCW 9.94A.030(27)(b)(i) (1998). His prior conviction was not specifically listed as an eligible prior conviction but it was comparable to a listed offense. *Id.* at 728. The statute was silent about whether a predicate conviction could be comparable to a listed offense. *Id.*

¹ RCW 69.50.435 lists various additional allegations that may be proved to the jury, including selling drugs near a designated school bus stop route. RCW 9.94A.827 pertains to manufacturing methamphetamine with a special allegation that a child was present.

To determine whether a judge could consider the comparability of a prior conviction for a two-strike sentence, the Supreme Court observed that the "immediately preceding" section of the same statute addressed "three strike" sentences and it included a "comparability clause" permitting a predicate offense to be one that was comparable to a listed offense. *Id.* By using different language in these two sections of the same statute, the Legislature showed it "knew how to include comparable offenses in the definition of a persistent offender." *Id.* Based on the two-strike statute's failure to include the same comparability language, the court must "presume the absence of such language in the two-strike scheme was intentional." *Id.* at 729.

The Legislature showed it knows how to expressly order that multiple enhancements must be served consecutively to each other in RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e), 4(e), and (8)(b). It did not include this explicit language for enhancements in section (6) regarding school bus stop enhancements that it used in these other sections. The failure to include clear language requiring consecutive enhancement sentences in section (6), while using it in other sections of the same statute, requires the court to "presume the absence of such language . . . was intentional." *Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d at 729.

The Legislature does not intend that all enhancements are treated the same for sentencing purposes. Firearm and deadly weapon enhancements are also punished more harshly than other sentencing enhancements under the earned early release time statute. RCW 9.94A.729(2) prohibits "any good time credits or earned early release time for that portion of [a] sentence that results from any deadly weapon enhancements" under RCW 9.94A.533(3), (4). No other enhancements are similarly barred from good time credits.

Further confirmation of the Legislature's intent is demonstrated by the changes it made to the sentence enhancement statute in 2006. In 2006, the Legislature added the sexual motivation enhancement to RCW 9.94A.533. *LAWS* 2006, ch. 123 §1 (SB 6460). The new provision expressly mandated that all sexual motivation enhancements must "run consecutively" to "other sexual motivation enhancements." *Id*.

In the same 2006 session, the Legislature amended the section pertaining to school bus stop enhancements, RCW 9.94A.533(6). *LAWS* 2006, ch. 339 §301. Yet it did not include the same language mandating consecutive enhancements for multiple bus stop or other drug-related enhancements. Again, the failure to include clear language requiring consecutive sentence enhancements in section (6), while using it in the

newly added provision in section (8), shows that "the absence of such language . . . was intentional." *Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d at 729.

The 2006 amendment to the drug-related enhancements contained in RCW 9.94A.533(6) was enacted as part of a broad-based effort at combating methamphetamine abuse, addiction, and the dangers of methamphetamine manufacturing. *LAWS* 2006, ch. 339; *see* SB 6239 (2006).² The amendment added the second sentence to RCW 9.94.533(6): "All enhancements under this subsection shall run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions, for all offenses sentenced under this chapter."

Prior to this change in the statute, the Supreme Court had construed RCW 9.94A.533(6) as "silent" on whether enhancements should be concurrent or consecutive "to one another or to other enhancements." *State v. Jacobs*, 154 Wn.2d 596, 602, 115 P.3d 281 (2005). The *Jacobs* Court relied on the principle that consecutive punishment is permitted only if expressly authorized by the Legislature. *Id.* It also noted that the firearm and deadly weapon enhancements specifically required courts to apply them consecutively to each other. *Id.* at 603. "Thus, the legislature clearly knows how to require

consecutive application of sentence enhancements and chose to do so only for firearms and other deadly weapons." *Id.* The *Jacobs* Court believed the statutory language for school bus stop route enhancements "seems to weigh in favor of intending concurrent sentences." *Id.* Based on the rule of lenity, it held that enhancements for drug-related offenses under RCW 9.94A.533(6) must be concurrent to each other. *Id.*

Although the Legislature changed the statute after *Jacobs*, it did not follow the court's suggestion in *Jacobs* and use the same language as used in the firearm and deadly weapon statutes to demonstrate its plain intent to treat multiple enhancements consecutively when they are the same type of enhancements. *See* 154 Wn.2d at 603. The plain language of RCW 9.94A.533(6) does not mandate the imposition of multiple enhancements consecutive to each other, but instead only directs that the drug-related enhancements are served consecutively to the underlying offense.

The court misconstrued the statute when sentencing Mr. Medina and erroneously imposed three consecutive 24-month enhancements for

² The Senate Bill Report to SB 6239 is attached as Appendix A.

selling drugs within 1000 feet of a designated school bus stop route.

3. Remand for resentencing is required.

An erroneous sentence may be corrected at any time. *In re Personal Restraint of Goodwin,* 146 Wn.2d 861, 873-77, 50 P.3d 618 (2002); *see also In re Pers. Restraint of Moore,* 116 Wn.2d 30, 803 P.2d 300 (1991). Mr. Medina's CrR 7.8 motion correctly challenged the consecutive imposition of multiple sentencing enhancements under RCW 9.94A.533(6). "[A] defendant cannot agree to be punished more than the Legislature has allowed for." *Goodwin,* 146 Wn.2d at 871-72; *In re Hudgens,* 156 Wn.App. 411, 418-19, 233 P.3d 566 (2010). This case should be remanded to strike the 72-month consecutive sentences imposed for the three school bus stop route enhancements and instead impose one 24-month enhancement.

E. CONCLUSION.

Based on the foregoing, this Court should direct the trial court to order that the sentencing enhancements are concurrent to each other.