NO. 45829-2-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

MARCO R. MEDINA,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DAVID BURKE
Prosecuting Attorney
Pacific County, Washington

Office Address:

300 Memorial Avenue
PO Box 45
South Bend, WA 98586

Telephone: (360) 875-9361

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

The defendant, Marco R. Medina, pled guilty to three deliveries of a controlled substance and possession of a controlled substance. The trial court properly imposed multiple consecutive sentencing enhancements for delivering controlled substances within 1000 feet of a designated school bus route stop.

B.

**STATE'S RESPONSE TO ISSUE PERTAINING TO
APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

Based on the 2006 amendment to RCW 9.94A.533(6), the trial court lawfully imposed consecutive sentencing enhancements for delivery of controlled substances within 1000 feet of a designated school bus route stop.

C.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State accepts the Appellant's Statement of the Case.

D.

ARGUMENT

**THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY IMPOSED MULTIPLE
CONSECUTIVE SCHOOL BUS ROUTE STOP
SENTENCING ENHANCEMENTS ON MR. MEDINA.**

Mr. Medina pled guilty to three counts of delivery of a controlled substance within 1000 feet of a designated school bus route stop and one count of possession of a controlled substance. CP 22, 26. Pursuant to RCW 9.94A.533(6), the trial court ruled that the three 24-month school bus route stop enhancements were to be served consecutively to each other. The Court imposed a sentence of 102 months, which included 72 months for three school bus route stop sentencing enhancements. The Appellant argues that the trial court did not have authority to impose consecutive school bus route stop sentencing enhancements. Appellant's Brief at 5-11. According to the Appellant, the legislative "fix" which was passed in 2006 to address the holding in State v. Jacobs, 154 Wash.2d 596, 115 P.3d 281 (2005) was ineffective. Appellant's Brief at 9-10. Under Jacobs, school bus route stop sentencing enhancements must run concurrently. 154 Wash.2d at 602. In 2006, the legislature amended RCW 9.94A.533(6) to read as follows:

(6) An additional twenty-four months shall be added to the standard sentence range for any ranked offense involving a violation of chapter 69.50 RCW if the offense

was also a violation of RCW 69.50.435 or 9.94A.605. All other enhancements under this subsection shall run consecutively to all other sentencing provision for all offenses under this chapter.

Laws of 2006, ch. 339 § 301. The last sentence of subsection contains the new additional language.

The acknowledged purpose of this new language was to overturn the decision in Jacobs. See House Bill Report on E255B 6239 (2006) at 7. (Appendix A). By referencing the Jacobs decision in the legislative history, the legislature sought to nullify the holding of Jacobs so that school bus route stop enhancements would run consecutively to each other. According to the Appellant, the legislative change in 2006 did not accomplish its implied purpose because the legislative language did not follow the court's suggestion in Jacobs to use "the same language as used in the firearm and deadly weapon statutes." Appellant's Brief at 10. Thus, from the Appellant's perspective, the 2006 legislative amendment did not evince a plain intent to run multiple school bus stop route sentencing enhancements consecutively to each other. Id.

The problem with the Appellant's argument is that the legislature clearly was aware of the holding in Jacobs which required that school bus route stop sentencing enhancements must be run concurrently. Thus, there would be no need to add additional language to RCW 9.94A.533(6) unless

the legislature wanted to overturn the Jacobs decision. The Appellant's contention that the legislature needed to use the same language that is used for the firearm and deadly weapons enhancements is without merit. This interpretation places form over substance. Also, the Appellant's reference to State v. Delgado, 148 Wash.2d 223, 63 P.3d 792 (2003) is misplaced. In Delgado, there was an absence of relevant language. In the present case, there is relevant language in the 2006 legislative amendment which states that sentencing enhancements shall run consecutively. Because the language change as the 2006 amendment is clear and because the legislative history indicates that the amendment was adopted in response to the Jacobs decision, one reasonably can infer that legislature wanted school bus stop route sentencing enhancements to run consecutively. There is no ambiguity which would allow the application of the rule of lenity.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals has already determined that the 2006 amendment mandated that multiple school bus stop route sentencing enhancements be served consecutively. As stated in Gutierrez v. Department of Corrections, "the [2006] amendment permitted multiple enhancements and directed that they run consecutively." 146 Wash.2d 151, 156, 188 P.3d 546 (2008). The State asserts that the holding in

Gutierrez should be followed and that the argument of the Appellant should be rejected.

E.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons delineated above, the decision of the trial court which imposed three consecutive 24-month bus route stop sentencing enhancements should not be overturned. The trial court properly imposed consecutive sentencing enhancements under RCW 9.94A.533(6) based on the legislative amendment that was adopted in 2006. The argument of the Appellant which seeks the imposition of concurrent sentencing enhancements does not pass muster. The court should deny the Appellant's request for re-sentencing based on the holding in Gutierrez.